
ELCB Fall Provider Meeting

October 23, 2018



Home instruction for parents of 
preschool youngsters (HIPPY)

Tammy Ssesanga, MPA
HIPPY Program Coordinator
Central Florida Child Health 

Program, Inc.  



Legislative update

• Next legislative session:
March 5 – May 3, 2019

• Committee weeks:
December 11

• Initial discussions of priorities primarily 
involve VPK (increased funding and 
streamlined accountability) and adoption 
of a statewide coordinated assessment 
system 



Committee on early grade success 
report recommendations

• The Florida Committee on Early Grade 
Success was created during the 2017 
legislative session.

• Goal was to create recommendations to 
strengthen Florida’s child assessment 
system.  



recommendations

• Maintain the current screening 
requirement for School Readiness children 
(within 45 days of enrollment and then 
annually in the month of their birth);

• Identify an observation-based assessment 
for children birth to five that will be used in 
School Readiness and VPK;



recommendations

• Use the same assessment tool and 
process at the beginning and the end of 
VPK and upon entry to kindergarten;

• Modify the current readiness rate 
calculation;

• Invest sufficient resources;



recommendations

• Stage implementation with sufficient time; 

• Ensure the tool(s) used meet the guiding 
principles and recommended domains of 
development;

• Rigorously and regularly analyze results. 



HB 1091 Implementation

School Readiness Program 
Assessment 



School readiness program 
assessment (SRPA)

Providers register for 
SRPA. 

Providers receive 
myTeachstone

subscription code.

Providers review 
myTeachstone

resources.

Provider programs are 
assessed and assigned 
a composite score for 

contracting.

Providers are notified 
of composite score 

and ability to contract 
for School Readiness. 



School readiness program 
assessment

• Thursday, November 8, 2018 is the deadline to register 
for School Readiness Program Assessment;

• The Provider email address will be the email address 
used when Teachstone activates your myTeachstone
subscription. Please be sure to use an email address 
you will be able to access in the future.

• Contract thresholds have not been finalized. More 
information about thresholds will be shared after October 
25, 2018.



School readiness program 
assessment

• Be sure to write down your confirmation ID 
number.

• If you serve at least 1 school readiness 
child, you must register. Once you 
register, it may be determined if you meet 
the exemption guidelines. The ELC will 
verify your enrollment and contact you.



School readiness program 
assessment

• Please remember to add classrooms and 
teachers that are on site as of the day of 
registration; no future classrooms or future 
teachers. 

• Please be sure that instructor/directors 
email addresses are valid and entered 
accurately.  This is how teachers will be 
notified about upcoming local trainings.  



School readiness program 
assessment

• When selecting the CLASS tool, look at 
the age of the majority of children in that 
classroom and then select the CLASS tool 
that will be used.



Class observation tool

The CLASS observation tool is an 
observational instrument developed to 

measure the effectiveness of classroom 
interactions.



Which classrooms will be 
observed?

• 50% of the classrooms in every care level 
(ages Infant-PreK) served by the provider 
must be assessed to determine the 
program assessment composite score.

• If there are an odd number of classrooms 
in a care level, the required number of 
classrooms shall be rounded up. (3 toddler 
classrooms, 2 will be observed) 



Which classrooms will be 
observed?

• The ELC does NOT determine which 
classrooms will be observed.  The 
information you have entered in your 
application will be transferred to the OEL-
defined system. 

• That system will randomly select 
classrooms to meet the composite score 
calculation requirements of 50% of each 
care level.  



Implications based on class 
composite scores

Below Contract 
Threshold

If the Provider’s composite 
score is below the contract 
threshold, the Provider will 

not receive a SR contract 
for the upcoming year. 

Meets Contract 
Threshold with 

Quality 
Improvement Plan

The Provider may SR 
contract with the ELC and 
will have to implement a 

Quality Improvement Plan 
(QIP) that executes various 

strategies to improve 
Teacher-Child Interaction

-12 Month QIP
-Annual CLASS Observation 

-Provider may choose to 
have an observation 

conducted prior to the 12 
month plan but will have to 
pay for those observations. 

Meets Contract 
Threshold with 

Payment 
Differential 

If a Provider’s 
Composite score 

meets the score of ?-7 
the Provider may 

choose to SR Contract 
with the ELC. 

-Biennial CLASS 
Observation

-Providers are eligible 
for a payment 

differential. 



exemptions

• A Provider that has not received one Class I or more 
than three of the same Class II School Readiness health 
and safety violations in a two year period AND is a:
– Child care center with 20% or less of filled School 

Readiness child care slots out of the maximum 
capacity.

– Family child care home with two or few of filled 
School Readiness child care slots out of maximum 
capacity. 



exemptions

• Providers that offer only overnight School 
Readiness services.

• Providers with no enrollment that have 
been determined by the coalition to be 
essential in meeting local child care 
capacity needs.  



Exemption – Opt in 

• Exempt providers may opt-in participate in 
program assessment requirements by 
submitting a request in writing to the 
coalition at least 60 days prior to 
contracting for the SR Program.  



Exemption – opt in

• Program assessment will be conducted 
within 30 days of receipt of the notice.  
The request to participate in program 
assessment shall constitute a waiver of 
the exemption and subjects the provider to 
all of the requirements of this rule 
(possibility of no contract, QIP, payment 
differential, annual observations, biennial 
observations).



School readiness program 
assessment resources

• School Readiness Program Assessment Registration 
https://earlylearningpfp.fldoe.org/Home/Welcome

• Office of Early Learning if you need technical assistance: 
School Readiness Program Assessment: 
OEL.Questions@oel.myflorida.com or 855-890-3226

• Teachstone https://teachstone.com/

• Early Learning Coalition of Brevard 
https://www.elcbrevard.org/

• Michell Bhagwandin, ELC Provider Services Coordinator 
321.637.1800 x2058 mbhagwandin@elcbrevard.org

https://earlylearningpfp.fldoe.org/Home/Welcome
mailto:OEL.Questions@oel.myflorida.com
https://teachstone.com/
https://www.elcbrevard.org/
mailto:mbhagwandin@elcbrevard.org


Incident reporting

• Included in School Readiness (page 16) 
and VPK (page 13) contracts.

• Language is the same in both contracts.
• Reporting is required even if the child 

involved in the unusual incident is a not 
School Readiness or VPK child; this 
requirement pertains to your contract as a 
provider.  



What is unusual

“Any significant event involving the health 
and safety of children under the provider’s 

care”



What is unusual?

• Accusations of abuse or neglect against 
the provider or provider’s staff;

• Injury of a child that requires professional 
medical attention at the provider’s site or 
written notification from the parent that the 
child received medical attention;

• When provider receives notice of litigation 
related to the location where services are 
being provided.  



What is not unusual

• Boo Boo Notes
• Unhappy parents or staff 
• Building repairs
• Personal legal issues
• Other examples?



Incident reporting timeline

• Report to the Coalition no later than close 
of business on the next business day of 
the unusual incident (phone call ok)

• Submit a written report to the Coalition 
within 3 business days from the date of 
incident (email ok)

• If licensed, a copy of the incident reported 
submitted to DCF is sufficient



How we know

• From you (always best)
• From parents and guardians (complaints, 

transfer requests)
• DCF licensing staff
• DCF child protection staffings
• Social media



VPk standards

• Florida Early Learning and Developmental 
Standards 4 Years Old to Kindergarten 
(2017)
– Website: http://flbt5.floridaearlylearning.com/
– Identifying on lesson plan: I A.a.1 or II A.1 or 

write-out full standard
• Course name: Implementing the Florida 

Standards in the Preschool Classroom: 3 
Years Old to Kindergarten (online & 
instructor-led)

http://flbt5.floridaearlylearning.com/


Vpk monitoring reminders

• Incorporate new Standards
• Ensure substitute teachers are assigned to 

all VPK classrooms

Questions on monitoring contact: 
mleddin@elcbrevard.org

mailto:mleddin@elcbrevard.org


The portal



School Readiness 
eligibility and enrollments

• We welcome calls from Providers when 
something isn’t clear in the Portal;

• We can for sure discuss it; we may or may 
not be able to fix it;

• Many, many issues related to data 
migration as well as system functionality;

• From July 2 to now, there have been many 
improvements but a long way to go.



What is different?

• School Readiness families are doing their 
entire eligibility and enrollment process in 
the Family Portal;

• The steps in the process are different from 
before (ex. “terminating” an enrollment for 
things like billing group changes, provider 
transfers, etc);

• Families, Coalition staff and providers all 
learning together.



Helpful hints

• Coalition staff doesn’t have the ability to 
stamp or handwrite information on 
certificates of eligibility;

• No new certificates are generated when 
children go from full time care to before 
and after care (school age children);

• Families should be able to obtain their 
certificates of eligibility (some of the time);



Helpful hints

• Sometimes you can see certificates of 
eligibility, sometimes you can’t;

• All families are given 12 months of 
eligibility; assume they are eligible unless 
you receive a termination notice from ELC;

• Gold Seal rates don’t yet appear;
• No new certificates are generated when 3 

month extensions are authorized.



Attendance in the portal

• Small scale testing and subsequent fixes 
have occurred;

• Each ELC to have 5 providers test and 
give feedback;

• Unknown official launch date for SR and 
VPK attendance (end of the month?)



Attendance in the portal

• July payments were based on June
• Some ELCs continuing to pay based on 

June
• Locally, our goal is to make your payments 

as whole and accurate as possible
– That takes extra work for you and us

• Unknown for how long that will continue



Attendance in the portal

• When attendance becomes available:
– SR and VPK attendance will need to be 

entered in the Portal back to July
– Process of reconciling payment made to more 

accurate calculations
• May result in additional dollars owed or collection 

of overpayments made
• Will be as flexible and understanding as possible 

during reconciliation process



Inclusion reminders

• Many requests for VPK classroom 
observations (9am – 12 pm);

• Consider classroom observations if 
concerns regarding more than one child;

• Child Find referrals can be made without 
contacting Kevin;

• Many times there isn’t a short term fix; 
long term services may be needed



COMMITTEE FOR EARLY GRADE SUCCESS:

RECOMMENDATIONS FOR A COORDINATED EARLY 
CHILD ASSESSMENT SYSTEM IN FLORIDA

DECEMBER 1, 2017

 



1

The Florida Committee for Early Grade Success (Committee) was created during the 2017 legislative 
session. The Committee developed a series of recommendations to guide the development of 
a coordinated early childhood assessment system for publicly funded programs, birth through 
kindergarten entry, with the following attributes: 

• Screen children birth through age five to see what, if any, developmental concerns should be 
further assessed.

• Provide practical, useful, actionable information to teachers and parents on children’s growth 
birth through kindergarten, helping them to provide individual care and instruction to better 
meet each child’s developmental and academic needs.

• Evaluate children’s skills upon entry to kindergarten.

• Provide an integrated system so data can efficiently follow children birth through third grade, 
ensuring rigorous privacy protections, to optimize children’s growth and learning.

• Inform broader program accountability, helping to ensure Florida’s early childhood investments 
are working as intended to support children’s development.

The Committee recommends the following to strengthen Florida’s early child assessment system:
• Maintain the screening requirement that all children who participate in the School Readiness 

program be screened within 45 days of enrollment and a minimum of annually, typically in their 
birth month. This is to assess development and identify what, if any, issues may require further 
attention to identify and treat special needs.

• Procure an observation-based assessment for children birth through age five that will be 
used among School Readiness and VPK participants. This tool will be used to measure growth in 
specific areas of development by age and used to inform individualized care and instruction.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY



2

• Use the same direct assessment tool(s) and processes at the beginning and end of VPK 
and upon kindergarten entry. The tool(s) will be used to measure child growth and inform 
individualized care and instruction. These results also will help inform accountability and program 
effectiveness. 

• Modify the current readiness rate calculation. Currently, the kindergarten readiness 
assessment is the sole data point used to determine the effectiveness of VPK programs. 
Given there is a 90-day gap between the end of VPK and the beginning of kindergarten, it is 
recommended that accountability move to measuring growth during the VPK year. Measuring 
growth is essential for Providers that serve students entering the program severely behind so 
they can show the progress made, even though the students may not have reached “readiness”.

• Invest sufficient resources in the assessment tool(s), training, and outside spot checks to 
ensure fidelity/quality assurance, and commensurate, appropriate payment rates to ensure early 
childhood providers can pay for staff professional development, planning and implementation 
time. 

• Stage implementation with sufficient time for the new assessment system to be successful. A 
five-year implementation plan is broadly outlined; in a state as large and diverse as Florida this 
will help ensure reliable, consistent results and appropriate accountability. Current practices and 
work would stay intact and be modified on a rolling basis during the five-year implementation 
period as appropriate.

• Ensure the tool(s) used meet the guiding principles and recommended domains of 
development outlined in this report. This may require new tools or additions to existing tools to 
ensure all domains are appropriately addressed.

• Rigorously and regularly analyze the results from the child assessment tools to inform 
ongoing improvement. 

The 17-member Committee from across the state met four times between October 11 and November 
30 to develop the report of recommendations. Staff support was provided by the University of 
Florida Lastinger Center for Learning, with support from the Helios Education Foundation. For more 
information, please contact Dr. Abby Thorman at athorman@coe.ufl.edu or Lara Glaser at lglaser@coe.
ufl.edu.  

mailto:athorman%40coe.ufl.edu?subject=
mailto:lglaser%40coe.ufl.edu?subject=
mailto:lglaser%40coe.ufl.edu?subject=


3

COMMITTEE FOR EARLY GRADE SUCCESS 
The Committee for Early Grade Success (Committee) was created during the 2017 legislative session 
and charged with submitting a report of its findings and recommendations to the Governor, the 
President of the Senate, and the Speaker of the House of Representatives by December 1, 2017.  The 
committee’s proposal must include legislative recommendations for the design and implementation 
of a coordinated child assessment system, including, but not limited to the items below. Each topic is 
addressed in this report: 

• The purpose of a child assessment, with a focus on developmentally appropriate learning gains 
(page 8)

• Attributes for tool selection that provide guidance on procurement policies (page 13)

• An implementation schedule and protocols, including the frequency of data collection and a 
timeline for training to ensure reliability of the system (page 16)

• The methodology for collecting and analyzing data that define reporting requirements (page 21)

• A budget for the system, including cost analyses for purchasing materials and the necessary 
technology, training to ensure reliability, and data system management (page 22)

• Considerations for student privacy and tracking child development over time (page 24)

The Committee was fully appointed on September 27, 2017. Member names, representation as 
specified in HB 7069, and professional roles are provided below.

Member Name Member Representation Member Professional Role
David Lawrence, Jr.
*CHAIR

Representative with subject 
matter expertise in early 
learning, early grade success, or 
child assessments

Chairman, The Children's 
Movement of Florida

Rep. Erin Grall
*VICE-CHAIR

Member of the Florida House of 
Representatives

Member, Florida House of 
Representatives

Sen. Dorothy Hukill Member of the Florida Senate Member, Florida Senate
Dr. Brittany Birken Representative with subject 

matter expertise in early 
learning, early grade success, or 
child assessments

CEO, Florida Children's Council

Dr. Holly Lane Representative with subject 
matter expertise in early 
learning, early grade success, or 
child assessments

Associate Professor and Director
School of Special Education, 
School Psychology and Early 
Childhood Studies; UF College 
of Education

Cari Miller Representative with subject 
matter expertise in early 
learning, early grade success, or 
child assessments

Policy Director, K-3 Reading for 
the Foundation for Excellence in 
Education



4

Ellyn Bogdanoff Private provider representative Executive Director, FACCM
Rodney MacKinnon Representative from the Office 

of Early Learning
Director, Office of Early Learning

Richard Myhre Representative from the 
Department of Education

Executive Director of Just Read, 
Florida!, FLDOE

Aruna Gilbert Representative of an urban early 
learning coalition

Chief Program Officer, Early 
Learning Coalition of Palm 
Beach

Matthew Guse Representative of a rural early 
learning coalition

Chief Executive Officer, Early 
Learning Coalition of the Big 
Bend

Patience Dussault Representative who is a 
kindergarten teacher with at 
least five years of teaching 
experience

Kindergarten Teacher, Classical 
Preparatory School

Yvette Lerner Representative of a rural school 
district

Academic Analyst, Kate Smith 
Elementary School

Dr. Bethany Quisenberry Representative who is an 
elementary school principal

Principal, Franklin Park 
Elementary School, Lee County

Dr. Pauline Ward Representative of an urban 
school district

District Supervisor, Reading/
Language Arts Miami-Dade 
County Public Schools

Theresa Little Representative of a faith-based 
early learning provider

Director, Christ the King Child 
Care Center

Elizabeth Moya Parent of a child who is 3 to 6 
years of age

Director of Legislative Affairs, 
Office of Early Learning

* Note: per HB7069, the Committee was required to select a Chair with subject matter expertise in early learning, early grade success, or child 
assessments. The Committee was further required to select a Vice-Chair who was a member appointed by the President of the Senate or Speaker 
of the House of Representatives, who is not one of the four members who are subject matter experts in early learning, early grade success, or 
child assessments.

The Committee met twice face-to-face on October 11 and on November 14 for all day meetings, and 
twice virtually on October 31 and November 28. Committee members had multiple opportunities to 
weigh in on portions as well as the full report. 

The Helios Education Foundation provided support for the Committee, covering Committee travel, 
staff/consultant, and related costs. Staff support and overall project coordination was provided by the 
University of Florida’s Lastinger Center for Learning, with Dr. Abby Thorman and Lara Glaser providing 
primary leadership. Child Trends, which is a nonpartisan national research organization, provided 
expertise on early childhood assessment and other state child assessment systems. Michele Watson of 
Watson Policy Solutions completed the cost modeling. All questions about this report and its content 
can be directed to Dr. Thorman at athorman@coe.ufl.edu or Lara Glaser at lglaser@coe.ufl.edu. 
 

mailto:athorman%40coe.ufl.edu?subject=
mailto:lglaser%40coe.ufl.edu.?subject=


5

BRIEF OVERVIEW OF FLORIDA LANDSCAPE
The Office of Early Learning (OEL) in the Florida Department of Education administers early learning 
funding in Florida. OEL administers an annual budget of $1,061,473,476. This budget includes 
$608,427,228 in federal Child Care and Development Block Grant (CCDBG) funding and state match 
to draw down the federal CCDF funds, and $396,812,611 in state Voluntary Prekindergarten (VPK) 
education program funding. 

Florida’s local governance model administers this investment. Thirty local Early Learning Coalitions 
administer child care tuition subsidies (called School Readiness funds that are funded primarily 
through the federal CCDBG funds and the required state match), the state Voluntary Prekindergarten 
(VPK) Education program (funded through state general revenue) and other services designed to 
support children and their families. 

• A total of 127,433 children birth through age five participate in early learning programs 
through School Readiness funds; these services are provided through 5,112 centers, 1,477 
family child care homes, and 530 school-based programs (September 2017 data: http://www.
floridaearlylearning.com/oel_resources/fact_book.aspx.)

• A total of 169,842 four-year olds participate in VPK (representing 96% of four-year olds in Florida); 
these services are offered through 4,683 centers, 65 family child care homes, and 1,047 school-
based programs. (2016-2017 year-end data, http://www.floridaearlylearning.com/oel_resources/
fact_book.aspx.)

The School Readiness and VPK programs have these child assessment requirements:
SCHOOL READINESS

Screening 
Children ages birth to five who are enrolled in the School Readiness program are required to 
be offered a developmental screening, with parental permission. The developmental screening 
is designed to capture the child’s development at entry into the School Readiness program. 
Annually, the child must receive an updated screening. The screening is conducted by either (or 
a combination of ) the parent, the early learning coalition, or the child care provider. Results are 
shared with the parents. (http://www.floridaearlylearning.com/statewide_initiatives.aspx/ )

Florida is the only state in the nation that requires screening on all children entering the child 
care subsidy program. These data helps identify children who may have more severe learning 
or developmental needs so they can be assessed in more detail and connected to appropriate 
services. All early learning coalitions in Florida use the Ages and Stages Questionnaire, ensuring all 
children receiving subsidized child care are screened consistently. This questionnaire is research-
based, reliable and can take less than fifteen minutes to administer.

Assessment
State law requires OEL to review and select child assessments that are valid, reliable and 
developmentally appropriate to use as pre- and post-assessments. OEL approved use of 
three formative assessment tools to document children’s development over time to inform 
individualized care and instruction. See Appendix A for more detail on the three approved tools. 
Using these tools is now voluntary; as usage is voluntary, the level of use across the state is not 
known.

http://www.floridaearlylearning.com/oel_resources/fact_book.aspx
http://www.floridaearlylearning.com/oel_resources/fact_book.aspx
http://www.floridaearlylearning.com/oel_resources/fact_book.aspx
http://www.floridaearlylearning.com/oel_resources/fact_book.aspx
http://www.floridaearlylearning.com/statewide_initiatives.aspx/


6

Through the Early Learning Performance Funding Project, participating programs in Tiers 3-5 may 
complete child assessments using one of these tools to receive a reimbursement differential; at the 
current time there are 930 early learning programs participating. 

VPK 
Pre/Post

Florida law requires all private and public VPK providers to administer a pre- and post-assessment 
to all children attending a VPK program (Section 1002.67(3), Florida Statutes). The requirements for 
2016-17 include the use of VPK Assessment. All VPK providers are responsible for complying with 
administration and reporting results by specified deadlines. There are two rules that pertain to VPK 
pre- and post-assessment: Rule 6A-1.09433, Florida Administrative Code, identifies the instruments 
to be used for pre- and post-assessment, who can administer the instruments and training 
assessors must have. Rule 6M-8.620, Florida Administrative Code, outlines how to order materials, 
reporting results, deadlines, responsibilities of each early learning coalition and consequences for 
non-compliance.

The VPK Assessment includes progress monitoring measures in the areas of print knowledge, 
phonological awareness, mathematics, and oral language/vocabulary that are aligned with the 
Standards for Four-Year Olds. The Department of Education has developed the VPK Assessment 
Online Reporting System so teachers may use this information to guide instructional decisions in 
the VPK classroom.

The VPK Assessment Online Reporting System is available to all registered providers free of 
charge. This system allows VPK teachers to enter each child’s assessment results and then analyze 
children’s data in order to plan lessons that meet the individual needs of all children.

The VPK Assessment Online Reporting System has the capacity to: 
• Create individual, classroom and center-level reports to track progress. 

• Link the assessment data to instructional strategies and resources that are aligned with the 
Standards of Four-Year Olds. 

• Create a letter to parents about their child’s performance on each assessment measure. 

http://www.floridaearlylearning.com/providers/provider_menu/vpk_pre-_and_post-assessment.
aspx

https://www.flrules.org/gateway/ruleNo.asp?id=6A-1.09433
https://www.flrules.org/gateway/RuleNo.asp?title=Office%20of%20Early%20Learning%20-%20Voluntary%20Prekindergarten%20Education%20Program&ID=6M-8.620
http://www.floridaearlylearning.com/providers/provider_menu/vpk_pre-_and_post-assessment.aspx
http://www.floridaearlylearning.com/providers/provider_menu/vpk_pre-_and_post-assessment.aspx


7

KINDERGARTEN READINESS
Readiness Screener

The purpose of the Florida Kindergarten Readiness Screener (FLKRS) is to gather information 
about a child’s overall development and address each student’s readiness for kindergarten based 
on the Florida Early Learning and Developmental Standards for Four-Year-Olds. Consistent with 
Florida law, FLKRS is used to calculate VPK Provider Kindergarten Readiness Rates, which measure 
how well a VPK provider prepares 4-year-olds to be ready for kindergarten. Florida law outlines 
requirements for statewide kindergarten screening and calculating kindergarten readiness rates. 
Statewide kindergarten screening is administered within the first 30 days of kindergarten. Children 
who participated in VPK and attend kindergarten in a nonpublic school can also participate in 
screening. 

http://www.floridaearlylearning.com/vpk/about_assessments_in_vpk_and_kindergarten_
screening.aspx 

Florida was among the first states to invest in early childhood assessment and to recognize the 
importance of using early childhood data to inform an understanding of program investments and to 
inform instruction. However, there have been many changes since the enactment of early childhood 
assessment and the system of assessment has become disjointed.

Florida currently uses three separate assessments that are not integrated or aligned within a larger 
early childhood assessment system. Multiple, disconnected assessments make it difficult to make 
sense of progress over time and to get an aggregate picture of how well Florida’s children are doing 
overall. These assessments also were designed for multiple assessment purposes:

• To screen to determine what, if any, special needs require further assessment

• To inform care and instruction

• To inform parents of their child’s progress

• To capture learning gains made in the VPK program

• To determine whether children entering kindergarten are “ready” to learn

• To hold Providers accountable for preparing children for kindergarten with Kindergarten 
Readiness results currently used to calculate the readiness rate, identify low-performing providers 
and provide extra support to ensure all children receive quality care and instruction, and remove 
program funding for consistently low-performing providers

This paper outlines guiding principles to create a seamless, coordinated childhood assessment system 
birth through kindergarten that addresses each purpose.

http://www.floridaearlylearning.com/vpk/about_assessments_in_vpk_and_kindergarten_screening.aspx 
http://www.floridaearlylearning.com/vpk/about_assessments_in_vpk_and_kindergarten_screening.aspx 


8

PURPOSE OF CHILD ASSESSMENT 
Child assessment is an important tool to understand children’s development. It provides information 
to better meet children’s developmental and learning needs. As investment in early childhood grows, 
there is strong interest in ensuring the investments are having the desired impact on children’s 
development, preparing them for success in school and beyond. Early childhood assessment systems 
focus on children birth through age eight and provide information on the skills and behaviors of 
children.

Young children are unique in their development during the first eight years and the assessment tool(s) 
need to be selected carefully and administered to capture their skills and understanding of the world. 
With K-3 assessments typically in place, states need to develop aligned child assessment systems for 
children birth through age five to have integrated early childhood assessment systems. A number of 
factors need to be considered when developing an early childhood assessment system. 

• Young children’s development can be sporadic (e.g., they might exhibit a skill one day but not the 
next) and they do not have the verbal or writing skills to communicate in the same way that older 
children do. 

• Young children tend to have short attention spans and are more easily distracted. 

• Assessment tools must be appropriate for children from various cultural and linguistic 
backgrounds. Children use their experiences to make sense of assessment tasks, and language 
and culture are key aspects of those experiences. 

• Most important, the assessment information gathered on young children should be used to 
benefit them and inform how to best meet their individual developmental and academic needs. 

Thus, it is important that assessments used with young children be developed specifically for 
young children, have evidence that the assessments are valid (measure what they claim to 
measure) and are reliable (measure the data in a consistent way).

Determining the purpose of the assessment and how the data will be used has implications for 
decisions such as: who should be assessed, what approach is used for conducting the assessment, 
and who should receive the information about assessment results. Four different purposes for early 
childhood assessment are described in the National Education Goals Panel report, Principles and 
Recommendations for Early Childhood Assessments. These were considered and the Committee 
recommendations reflect appropriate adaptations for Florida’s unique context. The four general 
purposes of early childhood assessment include:

1. Assessment to guide care and instruction: When assessment data gather information on 
children’s progress in learning specific skills and behaviors to tailor instructional approaches to 
the needs of individual children and groups of children. For this purpose, teachers gather data 
and information about children through a mix of direct assessments, observation and work 
samples. These data are collected from all children throughout the course of the school year to 
inform decisions about their care and instruction. 

2. Assessment to identify special needs: To identify those children who may need more support 
in their development. For this purpose teachers or program specialists may collect data and 
information about children’s development in order to determine if a more in-depth assessment 
may be needed. Data collected through a developmental screening should never be used to 
exclude children from programs or to group children of low ability. 



9

3. Assessment to monitor trends/evaluate services (in aggregate): To determine whether 
specific initiatives or new models intended to strengthen early care and education programs are 
having the intended effects. For example, data collected from kindergarten entry assessments 
may be included as one source used to determine if the quality of early care and education 
provided by a state is supporting expected improvements over time. 

4. Assessment for accountability of programs: To determine if state investments in early 
childhood programs are yielding the desired outcomes. These data are used primarily by 
policymakers and may have specific consequences for programs/ schools. The National 
Academies of Sciences report, Early Childhood Assessment: Why, What, and How, cautions that 
child assessment data should happen only when progress in children’s skills is measured (not 
just gathered at one point in time) and that information about inputs and program quality also 
are used.

ELEMENTS OF A STRONG SYSTEM OF EARLY CHILDHOOD ASSESSMENT
Child assessment should be a part of a broader system that should have these elements:

•  Purpose: System is driven by a clear and unifying purpose for conducting assessments in early 
childhood. 

• Assessments: The system includes multiple approaches to assessing children’s development. 
The system also may include assessments of the quality of programs that serve young children. 
Different assessment tools are used for different purposes. 

• Standards: Includes both 1) early learning and development standards reflecting 
developmentally appropriate skills for young children, and 2) program quality standards.

• Reporting: A protocol for documenting data and developing reports for various users and 
purposes, with the data infrastructure that can support the development of such reports. 

• Professional Development: A system of professional development and ongoing support 
for practitioners, administrators, program directors and policymakers that supports their 
understanding of the standards and assessments, and that provides support on the appropriate 
(and inappropriate) uses of early childhood assessment data.

• Facilitate and Support Learning Gains: High-quality programs support children’s development 
and provide children with opportunities for experiential learning. Assessment documents child 
progress in key developmental areas and helps parents and teachers individualize learning. 
Most other system components focus on the assessment (e.g., reporting of findings, professional 
development to ensure that the assessment is implemented appropriately). 

• Inclusion: Methods and procedures for ensuring that all children served by the program will be 
assessed appropriately for their unique needs, regardless of language, culture, or disabilities, and 
with tools appropriate for development and learning. 

• Resources: Assurance that the necessary funding and other resources needed to ensure the 
development and implementation of the system components are available. 

• Monitoring and Evaluation: Procedures for continuously analyzing and using the data to ensure 
it is operating effectively and all elements are working together to serve children. 



10

ROLE OF DIFFERENT ASSESSMENT METHODS: BENEFITS AND LIMITATIONS 
There are two primary types of assessment used in the early childhood years:

• Formative observation data collection methods

• Formative direct data collection methods

To be most effective, both types of assessments should be criterion-referenced, meaning they allow 
for comparison of children’s performance against criteria for what children their age should know.  

Formative observation data collection methods are used by teachers to generate documentation of 
children’s knowledge, skills, or abilities based on their performance, behavior or work in the classroom 
or other settings. Observation is a strategy commonly used by teachers during the natural course 
of the day to collect ongoing information on the progress of individual children. That information 
then can be used for planning instruction and communicating with parents. Generally, observational 
assessments are criterion-referenced, meaning they allow for comparison of children’s performance 
against criteria for what children their age should know. 1

In early childhood, observational data collection methods are considered a developmentally 
appropriate approach to assessment for these reasons:

• Observational assessments are conducted in “natural” contexts (e.g., within children’s normal 
everyday classroom routines) and as such, they are often the least obvious or intrusive 
assessments, and are often less time-consuming than direct assessments that require individual 
administration to each child. 

• Assessing young children’s characteristics or progress from real-world classroom or family 
contexts helps ensure that the evidence collected is consistent with children’s culture, language, 
and experiences. 2  

• Observational assessments also allow the child multiple opportunities to demonstrate a behavior 
or skill in multiple settings with multiple partners, objects, and materials, resulting in a more valid 
estimate of ability. 3 

Limitations of formative, observational assessment include: 
• It takes extensive professional development, time and reliability checks with teachers to achieve 

reliable agreement about an individual child’s skills and development between two teachers/
observers.

• These assessments allow for comparisons of child to others of the same age only if interval level 
data are part of tool construct. 

• There can be teacher/observer bias if there are accountability consequences based on the 
assessment results. 

1  National Early Childhood Accountability Task Force (2007). Taking stock: Assessing and improving early childhood learning and program 
quality.
2  National Association for the Education of Young Children (2003). Early childhood curriculum, assessment, and program evaluation: Building 
an effective, accountable system in programs for children birth through age 8. A joint position statement of the National Association for the 
Education of Young Children (NAEYC) and the National Association of Early Childhood Specialists in State Departments of Education (NAECS/
SDE).
3  Fewell, R.R. (2000). Assessment of young children with special needs: Foundations for tomorrow. Topics in Early Childhood Special 
Education, 20, 38-42.



11

Formative direct data collection methods involve presenting individual children with a common 
set of questions or tasks and recording their responses. The goal of direct assessment is to measure 
specific behaviors that are defined ahead of time. These assessments are given in a standardized way 
and are highly objective in nature. That means that children’s performance on the assessment should 
not vary from one teacher or care provider to another. 

Benefits of direct assessment include: 
• The ability to compare results across same-age children 

• Higher levels of consistency with the implementation of the assessment across assessors

• The design of the assessment reduces the potential for teacher/observer bias

• Requires initial and ongoing training but typically less than observational data collection 
methods

Limitations of direct assessment include: 
• Children often only have one chance to demonstrate their skills, which may be challenging as 

these assessments are typically conducted outside the typical classroom routine and may be 
conducted by an outside assessor with whom the child is not familiar. (Note: the Committee 
recommends all assessments are conducted by the teacher, not an unfamiliar person, to eliminate 
this additional potential challenge for the child). 

• The format of the assessment administration may be unusual for the child. They may not be able 
to stay engaged in the assessment task or feel comfortable verbally responding to questions.

Both types of assessment can be useful and an assessment system might rely on both types of 
assessment to accomplish multiple goals. The benefits and limitations of each type of assessment 
should be weighed when choosing assessment tool(s). 

The Committee identified what domains of child development should be assessed, at what age, using 
which type of tool. The Committee recommends:

• Procure an observation-based assessment for children birth through age five for use in 
the School Readiness program. This tool will help teachers document children’s developmental 
progress through regular experiential learning routines in a valid and reliable way. It will be used 
to measure growth in specific areas of development by age (outlined in the table below) and 
used to inform individualized care and instruction. This tool also will enable Florida to measure 
children’s growth over time, enabling more effective and targeted investments in programs. 

• Use the same direct assessment tool at the beginning and end of VPK and upon 
kindergarten entry. Currently a different tool is used during progress-monitoring for VPK and 
when children arrive at kindergarten. This tool should be used to inform individualized care and 
instruction during VPK to help ensure children’s individual learning needs are met. The same 
tool should be used to measure child growth over the course of VPK and when children arrive at 
kindergarten to measure program impact consistently. 

• Ensure the tool(s) used meet the guiding principles and recommended domains of 
development outlined in this report. This may require new tools or additions to existing tools to 
ensure all domains are appropriately addressed.

• Modify the current readiness rate calculation. The way child assessment results are used 
relates to the Committee work and is essential to create a unified early childhood assessment 
system. Currently, the kindergarten readiness assessment is the sole data point used to determine 
the effectiveness of VPK programs. There is room to strengthen this for a number of reasons. 



12

 » First, summer creates a 90-day gap between the end of VPK and the beginning of kindergarten, 
during which there is a well-documented decline in many children’s skills (of all ages). 

 » Second, the readiness rate is calculated only on an assessment of children at one point in time, 
which is not considered representative of actual skills. The committee believes a more accurate, 
appropriate readiness rate calculation should measure children’s progress during the VPK year, 
based on measuring children’s skills at the beginning and end of VPK as well as skills at the 
beginning of kindergarten. 

 » Third, measuring growth is essential for Providers that serve students entering the program 
severely behind. Measuring growth can show the progress that Providers have had with 
students severely behind, even though the students may not have reached “readiness”.

Thus, it is recommended that accountability move to measuring growth during the VPK year in 
addition to kindergarten readiness. 

If a VPK program fails to document sufficient progress, OEL should develop appropriate measures to 
drive targeted support, including meaningful quality improvement plans. Clearly there are times when 
early learning programs are high quality but cannot make the desired gains or achieve kindergarten 
readiness due to serving specific populations of children at greatest risk of school failure. 

Appropriate remediation/termination procedures, including targeted professional development and 
timeline for required program improvement, should be determined based on the collective picture of 
child gains, kindergarten entry skills, and program quality. 

The following table outlines these recommendations. 
 

RECOMMENDED DOMAINS AND METHODOLOGY FOR EARLY CHILDHOOD ASSESSMENT SYSTEM

0-36 months 3 year olds 4 year olds Kindergarten Entry

Domains to Assess: 
• Language

• Social/ Emotional

Assessment Method:
Observation 3x/year

Who is assessed: All SR 
children; completed by 
teacher/provider who 
will care for/instruct 
child

Domains to Assess: 
• Language

• Executive 
Functioning (critical 
thinking, decision 
making)

Assessment Method:
Observation 3x/year

Who is assessed: All SR 
children; completed by 
teacher/provider who 
will care for/instruct 
child

Domains to Assess: 
• Language

• Pre-Literacy 

• Executive Functioning (critical 
thinking, decision making)

• Early Math

Assessment Method: 
• Direct Assessment* 3x/year: 

Language, Pre-literacy, Early 
Math

• Observation and/or Direct 
Assessment 3x/year: Executive 
Functioning

Who is assessed: All VPK and all SR; 
completed by teacher/provider 
who will care for/ instruct child

Domains to Assess: 
• Language

• Early Literacy

• Executive Functioning 
(critical thinking, decision 
making)

• Early Math

Assessment Method: 
• Direct Assessment*

• Observation and/or Direct 
Assessment: Executive 
Functioning 

Who is assessed: All 
kindergarten students; 
completed by teacher/ 
provider who will instruct child 

* Same direct assessment tool should be used at beginning of VPK and end of VPK to measure gains and kindergarten entry to assess kindergarten 
readiness. All districts use the same kindergarten entry assessment as required by current law.



13

ATTRIBUTES FOR TOOL SELECTION TO PROVIDE 
GUIDANCE ON PROCUREMENT POLICIES 
The Committee identified five distinct priorities for a coordinated early childhood assessment system 
for children birth through grade three in Florida, which were informed by research,4  best practices, 
and Florida needs. The system should accomplish the following in Florida’s publicly funded early 
learning programs:

• Screen children birth through age five to see what, if any, developmental concerns should be 
further assessed.

• Provide practical, useful, actionable information for teachers and parents for children birth 
through kindergarten, helping them to provide individual care and instruction to better meet 
each child’s developmental and academic needs.

• Evaluate children’s readiness upon entry to kindergarten.

• Provide an integrated system so data can efficiently follow children birth through third grade, 
ensuring rigorous privacy protections, to optimize children’s growth and learning.

• Inform broader program accountability, helping to ensure Florida’s early childhood investments 
are working as intended to support children’s development.

By implementing an early childhood assessment system that meets these priorities, Florida will 
maximize investments in the critical early years with greater effectiveness and efficiency, and many 
more children could experience early grade success.

Decisions must be made throughout the assessment phases. At the beginning, decisions must be 
made about the tool(s) that will be selected and how the data will be collected. Next, decisions must 
be made about how to use and report the assessment information. Guiding principles for each of 
these phases are outlined below.

TOOL SELECTION AND USE
1. The assessment tool(s) must be developmentally appropriate and provide pertinent information 

to teachers and parents to best meet the needs of children. 

2. The tool(s) must have: 1) the capacity to measure the core domains of early childhood 
development -- language and literacy, mathematical thinking, social-emotional development 
including executive functioning skills (critical thinking, decision making) approaches to learning, 
and physical development -- on an integrated, developmentally appropriate continuum; and 
2) flexibility to focus first on the domains that most strongly indicate future academic success 
-- specifically language, literacy, math and executive functioning skills -- without negatively 
impacting the validity or reliability of the data.

4. National Research Council. (2008). Early Childhood Assessment: Why, What and How. Committee on Developmental Outcomes and 
Assessments for Young Children, C.E. Snow and S. B. Van Hemel, Editors. Board on Children, Youth, and Families, Board on Testing and 
Assessment, Division of Behavioral and Social Sciences and Education. Washington, D.C.: The National Academies Press.

Scott-Little, C., & Maxwell, K. L. (2015). Improving systems of learning through the use of child standards and assessments. In Dichter, H., and 
Hibbard, S., Rising to the challenge: Building effective systems for young children and families. Available at:http://www.buildinitiative.org/
OurWork/StateandLocal/EarlyLearningChallenge.aspx

Regenstein, E., Connors, M., Romero-Jurado, R., & Weiner, J. (2017). Uses and misuses of kindergarten readiness assessment results. Chicago, 
Ill: Ounce of Prevention. Available at: https://www.theounce.org/resources/publications



14

3. The tool(s) selected must have interval level and criterion-referenced data that measures 
equivalent levels of growth across domains and can be used for determining developmentally 
appropriate learning gains. This will facilitate measurements of child growth both informing 
instruction and being used to understand children’s outcomes for accountability.

4. To meet the needs of Florida’s diverse young children, the tool(s) should be available in multiple 
languages to the extent appropriate. 

5. Assessment must not be overly burdensome to teachers, children or parents. For example, 1) 
teachers must not be required to complete time-intensive assessments and 2) if technology is 
used, the administration of the assessment must be child-friendly (e.g., touch screen capability). 

6. The same direct assessment tool should be used at the beginning and end of VPK to measure 
gains as well as the beginning of kindergarten. This will enable children’s growth to be measured 
over time as well as to measure program impact. 

7. Given the complexities of implementing a coordinated child assessment system, adequate time 
must be provided for successful implementation. The Department of Education and Office of 
Early Learning must carefully monitor implementation, implement appropriate quality assurance 
measures, and address challenges with appropriate training, support, and technical assistance to 
ensure the data are reliable and valid as quickly and efficiently as possible. 

8. OEL and key partners must review data and feedback from users at least annually, using 
the information to continuously improve how the assessment is implemented; strengthen 
professional development and other support provided to teachers/assessment administrators, 
program directors and other stakeholders; and refine how the results are communicated.

9. The tool(s) must be used for the purpose for which they can be used with validity. For example, 
tools used to guide instruction and document developmentally appropriate learning gains must 
be designed for both capabilities.

10. If multiple tools are determined to meet the requirements and are selected, the data across all 
tools must be able to appropriately aggregate into consistent, reliable and valid data statewide.

11. The tools must have evidence of their reliability and validity for the age and characteristics of 
children Florida intends to assess (e.g., children with disabilities, English- and Spanish-speaking 
children).

12. The assessment tools must align with the state standards.

13. Assessment data must provide practical, actionable and useful data for teachers, administrators 
and parents. The value of the data for administrators, teachers, providers and parents must be 
balanced appropriately with the investment of teachers’ time to administer the assessment.

14. Families are partners in the assessment. Families must have the opportunity to contribute, 
sharing their own insights about their children’s development, strengths and needs. Information 
from the assessment system will also be shared in a way that is easy for families to understand. 
Data will provide information about their child’s individual growth and development aligned to 
expected benchmarks and development. 

15. The initial and ongoing costs of the assessment and related costs -- such as training, technology, 
and ongoing implementation -- are reasonable and result in improved child outcomes. 



15

16. Ongoing costs should include appropriate payment rates to providers so as not to put an 
additional unfunded mandate on providers who already have among the lowest payment rates 
in the nation. 

17. Training materials must be available for teachers (and program directors/principals). Appropriate 
support (such as training, technical assistance, coaching) is provided during the initial and 
ongoing implementation to ensure consistent, reliable and valid implementation of the 
assessment.

DATA COLLECTION, REPORTING AND USE 
1. Data should be gathered by teachers three times a year and used to identify individual strengths 

and needs and measure children’s development and learning over time.  

2. An option must be available for using an online system to enter information. For teachers and 
programs without technology access, appropriate assistance should be provided such as access 
to computers.

3. A system must be in place to check periodically the reliability of individuals completing the child 
assessment.

4. Data systems with strict privacy controls in place must be connected in a way that information 
can seamlessly transition as children develop and move between programs (e.g., from school 
readiness into VPK into kindergarten) and if children move within Florida. 

5. Strict privacy controls must be enforced. When a child is enrolled in a classroom, teachers and 
program directors/principals will be authorized access to children’s individual assessment data 
from the time of their enrollment in School Readiness, VPK or K-3; they will not be granted access 
to any information beyond the minimum necessary to identify the child. 

6. Teachers and appropriate administrators will be trained in how to review individual child data 
and use it to inform the individualized care and instruction they provide to each child. Access 
to individual child data will only be available to parents and the individual teacher/program 
director/principal during the time a child is actively enrolled in a classroom and the minimum 
time necessary to allow for the transition/transmission of accurate data.

7. Data systems must be connected so population-level, anonymous data can be analyzed to 
assess overall trends over time. 

8. Data systems must enable data analysis across age groups, from early childhood through 
kindergarten entry to the early elementary years, to measure child growth over time and inform 
measures of program impact. 

9. Data systems must enable analysis at the state, regional and local levels by OEL and the early 
learning coalitions. Data analysis must be in a format that can inform quality improvement and 
investment decisions. 



16

IMPLEMENTATION SCHEDULE AND PROTOCOLS 
SCHOOL READINESS

1. Family approved for School Readiness funds. 
• During application, family agrees that the child will have assessments documented to inform 

individualized care and instruction. 

• Family role/responsibility: review the data, provide input either online or in person to 
teachers to help inform individual child’s learning needs.

2. Each child has a unique student identifier assigned upon enrollment that stays with that child 
throughout K-12, providing continuity of data.

3. Teacher completes assessments on targeted domains within 30 days of enrollment and at 
regular intervals at least two more times over a calendar year. 

4. If children move from one program to another, teachers will be able to access data recorded 
by previous teachers to build on this foundation as they provide individualized care and 
instruction. 

5. Data system will have appropriate protections for data security and privacy, ensuring only 
authorized users (director, teacher) have access to individual child assessment data during the 
time the child is enrolled in a specific program.
• Parent can access his or her child’s individual results at any time.

• Teacher can access child assessment results for individual children enrolled in their classroom 
if the assessments were completed by 1) that teacher or 2) previous teachers. 

• Center director will have access to child assessment results, both individually and by 
program, during the time each child is enrolled in the center. 

• Teacher and center director cannot access any other information on the child (e.g., income, 
address, race).

• Access to individual child data will only be available to parents and the individual teacher/
program director/principal during the time a child is actively enrolled in a classroom and the 
minimum time necessary to allow for the transition/transmission of accurate data.

• Local early learning coalitions will have access to coalition-wide, county and individual 
program and classroom data that will be de-identified.

• Early learning coalitions will have restricted use of child-level data. Only authorized users will 
have access to these data and will observe strict protocols around its use. 

• OEL will have access to statewide, coalition-wide, county and individual program and 
classroom data that will be de-identified.

• OEL will have restricted use of child-level data. Only authorized users will have access to 
these data and will observe strict protocols around its use. 

6. OEL, early learning coalitions and other stakeholders annually analyze child assessment data, 
along with program assessment data, to determine program effectiveness. This will be done 
showing population-level trends, never the results of individual children. These data also will 
be used to inform broad and targeted overall program, quality improvement and professional 
development strategies and investments.



17

VPK 
1. Family enrolls in VPK. 

• Family agrees as part of participation that child will have observations and/or direct 
assessments documented to inform individualized care and instruction (note: this is current 
practice). 

2. If not a participant in School Readiness, the child will have a unique student identifier assigned 
upon enrollment that will stay with him or her throughout K-12, providing continuity of data.

3. If child participated in School Readiness, the VPK teacher will review previous assessment data 
within 30 days of enrollment to inform individualized care and instruction in VPK.

4. Teacher completes direct and/or observational assessments on targeted domains within 30 days 
of enrollment and at regular intervals at least two more times over a calendar year. 

5. Data system will have appropriate protections for data security and privacy, ensuring only 
authorized users (center director/VPK program director/principal, teacher) have access to 
individual child assessment data during the time the child is enrolled in a specific program.

• A parent will be able to access his or her child’s individual results at any time.

• A teacher can only access child assessment results for individual children enrolled in their 
classroom if the assessments were 1) completed by that teacher or 2) completed by previous 
teachers. 

• A center director/VPK program director/principal will have access to child assessment results, 
both individually and by program, during the time each child is enrolled in the center. 

• A teacher and center director/VPK program director/principal cannot access any other 
information on the child beyond the minimum necessary to identify the child.

• Access to individual child data will only be available to parents and the individual teacher/
program director/principal during the time a child is actively enrolled in a classroom and the 
minimum time necessary to allow for the transition/transmission of accurate data. 

• Local early learning coalitions will have access to coalition-wide, county and individual 
program and classroom data that will be de-identified.

• Coalitions will have restricted use of child-level data. Only authorized users will have access to 
these data and will observe strict protocols around its use. 

• OEL will have access to statewide, coalition-wide, county and individual program and 
classroom data that will be de-identified.

• OEL will have restricted use of child-level data. Only authorized users will have access to these 
data and will observe strict protocols around its use. 

6. OEL, early learning coalitions and other stakeholders annually analyze child assessment data, 
along with program assessment data, to determine program effectiveness. This will be done 
showing population-level trends, never the results of individual children. These data also will 
be used to inform broad and targeted overall program, quality improvement and professional 
development strategies and investments.



18

KINDERGARTEN
1. Teachers complete kindergarten readiness assessment on all children within 30 instructional 

days of kindergarten entry per current practice.

2. If a child participated in School Readiness and/or VPK, the kindergarten teacher uses previous 
observational and/or direct assessment data within 30 days of enrollment + kindergarten entry 
assessment data to inform individualized care and instruction in kindergarten.

3. Data system will have appropriate protections for data security, ensuring only authorized users 
(principal, teacher) have access to individual child assessment data during the time the child is 
enrolled in a specific program.

• Parent can access his or her child’s individual results at any time.

• Teacher can only access child assessment results for individual children enrolled in their 
classroom if the assessments were 1) completed by that teacher or 2) completed by previous 
teachers. 

• Principal can access child assessment results, both individually and by classroom, only during 
the time each child is enrolled in the school. 

• Access to individual child data will only be available to parents and the individual teacher/
principal during the time a child is actively enrolled in a classroom and the minimum time 
necessary to allow for the transition/transmission of accurate data. 

4. OEL/Florida Department of Education early learning coalitions and other stakeholders annually 
analyze 1) growth during VPK + kindergarten readiness as measured by the direct assessment(s) 
to inform accountability, 2) child growth during School Readiness participation as measured by 
the observational assessments, and 3) growth overall from birth through kindergarten entry to 
help inform accountability. This will be done showing population-level trends and results from 
individual programs, never the results of individual children.

EARLY ELEMENTARY GRADES
1. Teachers in grades 1-3 can access child results from previous grades/publicly-funded early 

learning programs for children within their classroom.

2. DOE will use early childhood, K and 1-3 assessment results to measure child growth over time 
and analyze birth through third grade results and produce a report. 



19

FREQUENCY OF DATA COLLECTION 
There will be regular and ongoing collection of data.

• School Readiness: Observations will be completed by teachers and documented in data system 
at least three times yearly, once within 30 days of enrollment or the start of the school year, and at 
least two other times at regular intervals during the calendar year. 

• VPK: Direct and/or observation-based assessments will be completed by teachers and 
documented in the data system at least three times during the school-year VPK programs, with 
more often preferred or required under certain circumstances. The first assessment will take place 
within 30 days of enrollment, one time around the middle of the VPK session, and once within 
the last 45 days of enrollment. Summer VPK programs will include an initial assessment within 15 
days of enrollment and once in the last 15 days of the program.

• Kindergarten: The child will be assessed within the first 30 instructional days of kindergarten 
using direct assessment. 

TIMELINE TO ENSURE RELIABILITY OF SYSTEM
The Committee recommends a staged implementation that builds statewide capacity incrementally. 
This timeline includes major benchmarks around administration, early learning coalition training and 
capacity building, and teacher/director training and capacity building, as outlined in the table below. 

IMPLEMENTATION TIMELINE

Year 1
2018-2019

Year 2
2019-2020

Year 3
2020-2021

Year 4
2021-2022

Year 5
2022-2023

ADMINISTRATION

Legislature charges 
OEL with rule 
promulgation and 
procurement of 
tool(s) (5 years)

Rule promulgated
Procurement 
complete

Initial report to 
Legislature on child 
assessment system 
implementation

Second report to 
legislature on child 
assessment system 
implementation and 
preliminary outcomes

Third report to 
legislature on child 
assessment system 
implementation and 
child outcomes

TRAINING AND IMPLEMENTATION

Early Learning Coalitions (ELCs)
Coalitions make 
preparations to have 
staff with capacity 
to implement with 
fidelity

ELCs trained. 
ELCs provide training 
and technical 
support on tool(s); 
provide coaching 
and community of 
practice support to 
directors and teachers

Ongoing training and 
support to ELCs from 
tool developer(s), OEL

ELCs provide training 
and technical 
support on tool(s); 
provide coaching 
and community of 
practice support to 
directors and teachers

Ongoing training and 
support to ELCs from 
tool developer(s), OEL

ELCs provide training 
and technical 
support on tool(s); 
provide coaching 
and community of 
practice support to 
directors and teachers

Ongoing training and 
support to ELCs from 
tool developer(s), OEL

ELCs provide training 
and technical 
support on tool(s); 
provide coaching 
and community of 
practice support to 
directors and teachers

Ongoing training and 
support to ELCs from 
tool developer(s), OEL



20

Teachers /Programs will be clustered in three groups based on willingness, good standing with their local 
Early Learning Coalition, and proven capacity to effectively implement the child assessment system and 
sufficient time to scale up full implementation. Each group will equal 20%-40% of the Coalition’s providers 
to ensure 100% of providers are implementing by Year 5. 

GROUP 1

Group 1 Teachers 
receive specific 
training on child 
assessment tool(s); 
implement 2x/
year; training and 
targeted support 
provided

Group 1 Teachers 
implement child 
assessment tool(s) 
3x/year; training 
and targeted 
support provided

Group 1 Teachers 
implement child 
assessment tool(s) 
3x/year with fidelity

Group 1 Teachers 
implement child 
assessment tool(s) 
3x/year with fidelity

GROUP 2

Group 2 Teachers 
receive specific 
training on child 
assessment tool(s), 
implement 2x/
year; training and 
targeted support 
provided

Group 2 Teachers 
implement child 
assessment tool(s) 
3x/year; training 
and targeted 
support provided

Group 2 Teachers 
implement child 
assessment tool(s) 
3x/year with fidelity

GROUP 3

Group 3 Teachers 
receive specific 
training on child 
assessment tool(s), 
implement 2x/
year; training and 
targeted support 
provided

Group 3 Teachers 
implement child 
assessment tool(s) 
3x/year; training 
and targeted 
support provided



21

METHODOLOGY FOR COLLECTING AND 
ANALYZING DATA THAT DEFINE REPORTING 
REQUIREMENTS
DATA COLLECTION 
Early childhood teachers/providers will complete the assessments according to the schedule outlined 
in the previous section. The data will be in an integrated, statewide system.

REPORTING REQUIREMENTS 
To ensure the early childhood assessment system has the desired impact, these data will be collected 
and documented in an integrated data system:

• Unique student identifier for each child in a publicly funded program, with strict privacy controls

• Assessment data linked to each child’s unique student identifier

• County of residence

• Early childhood program, updated when/as children change programs

 » For School Readiness and non-school based VPK providers: DCF license number 

 » For school-based VPK: school and school district

• Child assessment data from direct and observational measures

• Measure of child gains and outcomes

DATA ANALYSIS
These data will enable the following analysis to be completed by OEL/Department of Education 
annually in a report to be provided to the Legislature, Governor’s Office, and other stakeholders: 

• Number of children assessed

• Data on gains for groups of children by program, county, early learning coalition, district, 
statewide, local comparisons to statewide averages

• Percent of kindergarten readiness

• Outcomes of specific populations, such as children with special needs, dual language learners, 
children who have participated in other publicly funded programs (e.g., children in VPK who have 
participated in School Readiness; results of children in programs in projects like Performance 
Funding Project compared to peers)

• Early childhood learning gains and readiness outcomes related to third grade achievement

• Trends over time

Data will be available only to users based on strict privacy controls (outlined on page 24). 

Information for parents and teachers on individual child data (child level data not available to OEL/
Department of Education). The data parents and each user type will be able to access is outlined on 
page 26. 



22

BUDGET FOR SYSTEM
Cost modeling was used to determine an approximate fiscal note based on the Committee’s 
recommendations. Publicly available data on participants in School Readiness and VPK programs and 
kindergarten students as well as an estimated number of classrooms based on historical data were 
used. 

The average costs for direct and observational assessment tools and training were determined by 
contacting multiple tool developers that met the Committee’s recommendations. It is important to 
note that the costs used were publicly available costs and would likely be negotiated down as part of 
the procurement process for large-scale use. Cost factors for the tool implementation, training and 
implementation included: 

• Annual per child license fee for completion of selected tool(s)

• Initial training costs to early learning coalition or school district staff and/or early childhood and 
kindergarten teachers (depending on model)

• Indirect training costs for payments to early childhood teachers time to attend training, cost of a 
substitute teacher, and paid in-service time for kindergarten teachers

• Technology costs per classroom, assuming that every classroom would need new technology to 
implement new assessment protocols

The estimated aggregate costs of a complete child assessment system may be allocated over multiple 
years, as recommended in the implementation plan (page 16) to ensure adequate preparation and 
fidelity of implementation. Furthermore, some of the costs outlined in the modeling, such as those for 
technology or indirect training costs, may better be absorbed through an increase to the base student 
allocation or other methodology.  

It is important to note that current funding for kindergarten or VPK assessment is not reflected in 
any of the cost estimates as these funds are subject to annual legislative appropriation. It is also 
important to note that the cost of technology (more than half of the estimated total cost) could also 
be addressed elsewhere, such as through an increase in the BSA.

The detailed cost modeling and assumption notes are provided in Appendix D. 

Program Type Children

Classrooms/ Teachers 
who will participate 

in Direct Assessment 
Training

Early learning 
coalition or school 

district staff 
needed to conduct 
Observation-Based 

training
Kindergarten 201,061 12,569 N/A
VPK 169,081 12,691 890
School Readiness 99,699 28,591 525



23

Total Cost= $58,892,327

This model assumes:
• All kindergarten students are assessed with a direct assessment that is aligned to direct 

assessment in VPK. 

• All children in VPK and 4 and 5 year olds within the School Readiness program are assessed with a 
direct assessment and an observation-based assessment. 

• All children in the School Readiness program birth through age four are assessed using an 
observation-based assessment.

• Kindergarten, VPK, and School Readiness four and five year old teachers trained by tool developer 
directly on direct assessment tool.

• Existing staff at early learning coalitions and school districts trained by tool developer to train 
early childhood teachers on observation-based tool implementation. 

• Early childhood and kindergarten teachers paid to complete training if applicable.

• Each classroom would need at a minimum one tablet or computer to administer both direct 
assessment or observation based assessment.

An increase in administrative costs for the VPK and School Readiness programs should be considered 
to cover the costs of ongoing training to providers, supporting implementation of the tool within 
programs, and other support. This should be dependent on the finalized implementation plan and 
would need to be accounted for in future appropriations.

Program Type

Observation-
based 

assessment 
costs*

Direct 
assessment 

costs*

Initial training 
costs**

Initial indirect 
training 
costs**

Technology 
costs***

Kindergarten N/A $1,809,549 $1,822,505 $2,425,314 $7,541,400
VPK $2,367,134 $1,521,729 $2,774,695 $4,223,818 $7,614,600
School 
Readiness

$1,395,786 $264,312
(4 and 5 YO 

only)

$1,164,312 $6,812,758 $17,154,413

Total $3,762,920 $3,595,590 $5,761,512 $13,461,890 $32,310,413

* Denotes recurring annual cost for the per child assessment license
** This summarizes total initial training costs. These could be spread over 2-3 years.
*** Technology costs assume one device per classroom. Any refreshes to technology would need to be 
contemplated in future appropriations. 
 



24

CONSIDERATIONS FOR STUDENT PRIVACY AND 
TRACKING DEVELOPMENT OVER TIME
Strict child and family privacy controls will be provided throughout the system. There is existing 
language in place for children’s information for both the School Readiness program that serves 
children birth through school age and VPK. For both, personally identifiable information is confidential 
and protected from disclosure and would cover the expanded child assessment recommendations. 
Information may be shared with other entities to administer the programs, conduct audits and other 
program functions. Any party that receives the information must maintain its confidentiality and not 
disclose it publicly.

The relevant statutes include:
• For School Readiness: 45. C.F.R. 98.15(a)(13), Section 1002.97, Florida Statutes: https://www.

flsenate.gov/Laws/Statutes/2017/1002.97

• For VPK: Section 1002.72, Florida Statutes: https://www.flsenate.gov/Laws/Statutes/2017/1002.72

Further, as outlined in the Implementation section of this report (page 16), the data system will have 
appropriate protections for data security and privacy, ensuring only authorized users (center director/
VPK program director/principal, teacher) have access to individual child assessment data during the 
time the child is enrolled in a specific program.

• A parent will be able to access his or her child’s individual results at any time.

• A teacher can only access child assessment results for individual children enrolled in their 
classroom if the assessments were 1) completed by that teacher or 2) completed by previous 
teachers. 

• A center director/VPK program director/principal will have access to child assessment results, 
both individually and by program, during the time each child is enrolled in the center. 

• A teacher and center director/VPK program director/principal cannot access any other 
information on the child beyond the minimum necessary to identify the child.

• Access to individual child data will only be available to parents and the individual teacher/
program director/principal during the time a child is actively enrolled in a classroom and the 
minimum time necessary to allow for the transition/transmission of accurate data. 

• Local early learning coalitions will have access to coalition-wide, county and individual program 
and classroom data that will be de-identified; coalitions will not have access to child-level data. 

• OEL will have access to statewide, coalition-wide, county and individual program and classroom 
data that will be de-identified; OEL will not have access to child-level data. 

https://www.flsenate.gov/Laws/Statutes/2017/1002.97
https://www.flsenate.gov/Laws/Statutes/2017/1002.97
https://www.flsenate.gov/Laws/Statutes/2017/1002.72 


25

APPENDIX A
OVERVIEW OF OBSERVATIONAL ASSESSMENTS TOOLS APPROVED BY OEL

As noted on page 16 of this report, OEL has approved three observational assessment tools for 
voluntary use in School Readiness programs. While most programs use GOLD®, exact levels of use 
across the state are not known. A brief overview of each is outlined below. 

GOLD®
GOLD® combines authentic observational assessment with performance tasks for selected objectives 
in literacy and numeracy.  It can be used with any developmentally appropriate curriculum and is 
available in toolkit form and online.  The online version can aggregate data for groups of children at 
the class, program, site, or district or ELC level. According to recent research (Heroman et al., 2010; 
Lambert, Taylor & McGee, 2010), this system has been found to yield highly reliable scores and 
teachers are able to make valid ratings of the developmental progress of children.  While GOLD® is 
created for age birth through five, the new MyTeachingStrategies® system allows assessment up 
through third grade (www.teachingstrategies.com). The instrument assists teachers in planning 
appropriate experiences, individualizing instruction, and monitoring and communicating child 
progress to families and other stakeholders. The measure can be used reliably with English-language 
learners, children with disabilities, and typically developing children and those who demonstrate 
competencies beyond developmental expectations. 

GOLD® has five components: (1) Objectives for Development and Learning (birth through 
kindergarten); (2) Child Assessment Portfolio; (3) Assessment Opportunity Cards; (4) On-the-spot 
Observation Recording Tool; and (5) Family Conference Form (Teaching Strategies, 2013).  Objectives 
for Development and Learning anchors this assessment system, and shows expectations for age-
groups and for classes/grades, as well as explains how the various elements work together.  Color 
bands are used to show “widely held expectations” for development and learning by indicating where 
most children (within a national norm) of a particular age or grade are likely to be at the beginning 
and end of a program year (Teaching Strategies, 2013). There are 38 objectives based on research 
of what predicts school success and are part of many states’ early learning standards (Dichtelmiller, 
2011). 
 
These objectives are organized into nine areas of learning and development: social-emotional; 
physical; cognitive; language; literacy; mathematics; science and technology; social studies; and the 
arts. A tenth objective, English language acquisition, is used to determine if the child is an English 
language learner, and these acquisition objectives are mobilized to assess the child’s receptive and 
expressive language skills (Teaching Strategies, 2013).  Tools such as the Child Assessment Portfolio, 
Assessment Opportunity Cards, On-The-Spot Recording Tool, and Family Conference Forms provide 
and document evidence of learning related to each objective. Unlike the other two assessment 
systems used in Florida, GOLD® uses the same materials and procedures to assess children from 
birth through kindergarten.  Therefore, for providers that serve infants, toddlers, preschoolers and 
kindergarteners, all staff members use the same tool, and data collection for each child can follow 
them through several years of growth and development (Dichtelmiller, 2011).  This assessment tool 
also was used to measure direct child outcomes for this evaluation study, which will be discussed in 
the following quantitative instruments section.



26

Assessment Technology-Galileo (Galileo). 
This assessment system provides early childhood educators and other stakeholders a complete 
and fully integrated assessment, curriculum and reporting system that links assessment, planning, 
individualization and program progress. Galileo uses the Instructional Intervention Cycle and provides 
users with reliable and valid data to base learning opportunities and program management decisions.  
Developmental domains addressed in the assessment include creative arts, approaches to learning, 
early math, language and literacy, nature and science, physical health practices, fine and gross 
motor development, and social and emotional development. The cycle begins with goal-setting and 
planning and is followed by implementation, then evaluation (data gathering and analysis). Evaluation 
results inform decisions guiding the next goal-setting and planning stages (www.ati-online.com).

High Scope Educational Research Foundation-Child Observation Record (COR). 
The COR assessment is based on six child development categories that represent broad domains of 
child development. For the Preschool COR, these categories are initiative; social relations; creative 
representation; movement and music; language and literacy; and mathematics and science. The Infant-
Toddler COR has a parallel set of six categories: sense of self; social relations; creative representation; 
movement; communication and language; and exploration and early logic. Within each category, 
children are assessed on three to eight COR items that describe developmentally important behaviors. 
(The Preschool COR has 32 items, the Infant-Toddler COR has 28). Each item has five levels that indicate 
a typical developmental sequence for that behavior, enabling COR users to assign precise ratings to 
their observations of children. To carry out the assessment, teachers or caregivers spend a few minutes 
each day writing brief notes (called “anecdotes”) that describe significant episodes of young children’s 
behavior. They record their notes on printed forms or in computer files, and then classify and rate 
them according to the COR categories, items, and levels (HighScope Educational Research Foundation, 
2015).  The COR is based on the same developmental framework as the HighScope curriculum, and 
while indicators are not tied to age levels, they do represent a continuum of development in an area 
(Dichtelmiller, 2011). 

 
(Rodgers, M.K., Leite, W.,  & He, J., 2017.  Child Assessment Implementation Report.  Gainesville, FL: Lastinger 
Center for Learning)

http://www.ati-online.com


27

APPENDIX B
VPK CHILD ASSESSMENT

As noted on page 6 of this report Florida law requires all private and public VPK providers to 
administer the pre- and post-assessment to all children attending a VPK program. A brief overview of 
each is outlined below. 

Florida law requires all private and public VPK providers to administer pre- and post- assessments to all 
children attending a VPK program. All VPK providers are responsible for administering the assessments 
and reporting results by specific deadlines. There are two rules that pertain to VPK pre- and post-
assessments: Rule 6A-1.09433, Florida Administrative Code (FAC), identifies the instruments to be used 
for pre- and post-assessment, who can administer the instruments and training required for assessors.
Rule 6M-8.620, FAC, outlines how to order materials, reporting results, deadlines, each early learning 
coalition’s responsibilities and the consequences for not complying. 

Description of VPK Assessment Measures
The VPK Assessment includes progress monitoring measures in print knowledge, phonological 
awareness, mathematics and oral language/vocabulary areas that are aligned with the Standards for 
Four-Year Olds. You will find background information and a history of VPK Assessment data in this 
document: Florida VPK Assessment: An Overview (May 2016) (PDF, 140 KB).

VPK Assessment Online Reporting System
A VPK Assessment Online Reporting System provides teachers a user-friendly tool to track children’s 
progress in attaining skills in the Standards for Four-Year Olds. Teachers are able to use this information 
to guide instructional decisions in the VPK classroom. The online reporting system is available to all 
registered providers free of charge. VPK teachers can enter each child’s assessment results and analyze 
children’s data to plan lessons that meet individual needs of all children.

The system has the capacity to
• Create individual, classroom and center-level reports to track progress.

• Link assessment data to instructional strategies and resources aligned with the Standards for 
Four-Year-Olds. 

• Create a letter to parents about their child’s performance on each assessment measure. 

From OEL website: http://www.floridaearlylearning.com/vpk/about_assessments_in_vpk_and_
kindergarten_screening.aspx 

https://www.flrules.org/gateway/ruleNo.asp?id=6A-1.09433
https://www.flrules.org/gateway/RuleNo.asp?title=Office%20of%20Early%20Learning%20-%20Voluntary%20Prekindergarten%20Education%20Program&ID=6M-8.620
http://www.floridaearlylearning.com/vpk/about_assessments_in_vpk_and_kindergarten_screening.aspx
http://www.floridaearlylearning.com/vpk/about_assessments_in_vpk_and_kindergarten_screening.aspx


28

APPENDIX C
As noted on page 7 of this report, Florida law outlines requirements for statewide kindergarten 
screening and calculating kindergarten readiness rates. Statewide kindergarten screening is 
administered within the first 30 days of kindergarten. Children who participated in VPK and attend 
kindergarten in a nonpublic school can also participate in screening. A brief overview of each is 
outlined below. 

The Florida Kindergarten Readiness Screener, or FLKRS, is administered to kindergarten students 
within the first 30 days of the school year. Kindergarten teachers use the results to help understand 
each child’s readiness for school and plan lessons to meet individual needs. The Office of Early 
Learning (OEL) also uses the results to calculate kindergarten readiness rates for VPK providers. 

The Florida Department of Education selects the screening instrument, which assesses how prepared 
each student is for kindergarten based on performance standards the department adopted for VPK. 
The department selected the Star Early Literacy® assessment to begin this past fall (2017). Some school 
districts already use this to screen kindergarten students in the first 30 days.

Star Early Literacy is an online, “adaptive” assessment that students take by themselves in about 15-
20 minutes. Star Early Literacy contains 27 items that assess early language and number skills. The 
assessment aligns with the Standards for Four-Year-Olds (2011) and covers the same areas as the VPK 
Assessment

• phonological awareness

• alphabet knowledge

• vocabulary

• number sense

Children take the assessment by themselves on a computer. It is in a game-like format similar to apps 
children may use. The assessment is adaptive, meaning that questions get harder or easier based on 
how children respond. The computer “knows” which question to ask next based on a child’s previous 
response. Children typically complete the assessment in 15-20 minutes. Star Early Literacy practice 
questions and a computer mouse tutorial are available so children can become used to the format 
before taking the assessment. A practice resource is also available at http://www.renlearn.com/lp/
Florida%20K-Readiness%20Practice/.

Florida has used state kindergarten readiness assessments for approximately 20 years since before 
VPK started. Assessments have varied over the years, but there has been an instrument that focuses 
specifically on emergent literacy skills since VPK began. Those skills are considered strong predictors of   
child’s later reading abilities. This is consistent with VPK’s statutory emphasis on emergent literacy and 
Florida’s emphasis on reading. While young children are more than the sum of their emergent literacy 
skills, assessing these skills has been an important part of understanding the VPK child’s growth in this 
area, since they grow similarly in other developmental areas. Children who are doing well globally, 
including in social and emotional skills, are generally able to attend to the pre-academic skills they 
learn in VPK.

From OEL website:
http://www.floridaearlylearning.com/vpk/about_assessments_in_vpk_and_kindergarten_screening.
aspx

http://www.renlearn.com/lp/Florida%20K-Readiness%20Practice/
http://www.renlearn.com/lp/Florida%20K-Readiness%20Practice/
http://www.floridaearlylearning.com/vpk/about_assessments_in_vpk_and_kindergarten_screening.aspx
http://www.floridaearlylearning.com/vpk/about_assessments_in_vpk_and_kindergarten_screening.aspx


29

APPENDIX D

COST MODELING NOTES
This model assumes that every child in the school readiness and VPK program is assessed utilizing 
teachers or child care instructors that have been trained by an early learning coalition or school 
district, except for direct student assessment which assumes training will be delivered directly to the 
teacher or child care instructor. Direct student assessment is utilized for kindergarten entry, the VPK 
program utilizes both observation based and direct student assessment, and the school readiness 
program utilizes observation based assessment and direct student assessment for 4 and 5 year olds 
only.

Demographics
• Data used was from the completed 2016-2017 school year/program year.

• The number of School Readiness classrooms was calculated by dividing the number of children 
served by age group by Department of Children and Family licensing ratios for each age group 
and multiplying by 3 to account for the fact that there are not School Readiness classrooms.

• The number of early learning coalition and school district staff was determined by utilizing data 
provided by the Early Learning Coalition of Big Bend. The coalition currently employs 6 staff 
and supports a total number of 1163 student observations. Since the coalition is made up of 
7 counties the analysis did not account for geographic distance. To determine the number of 
needed staff the total of 1163 was divided by 6 to determine an average of 190 child assessments 
per 1 staff person. Subsequently the number of students was then divided by 190 to determine 
the number of staff needed. This methodology was used for both the VPK and School Readiness 
programs.

Assessment Costs
• The model assumes a mixture of observation based assessment and direct student assessment 

for the state’s VPK program. For the School Readiness program it only assumes direct assessment 
for 4 and 5 year olds and observational assessment for children birth to 4 years old.

COMMITTEE FOR EARLY GRADE SUCCESS



30

• Average time to complete both Observation Based and Direct Student Assessments averaged 15 
minutes per student/child.

Training Costs
• Training costs are assumed to be the most comprehensive training offered by developers and 

administered to early learning coalition or school district staff only. 

• Each face-to-face training accommodates 30 participants. For modeling the assumption was 
made that 20 coalition or school district participants would attend on average to make up for any 
geographic disparity.

• Online course are assumed that coalition or district staff may need 2 courses at a price of $150.00 
each for observational assessment.

• Direct Student Assessment training will be delivered directly to teachers and child care instructors. 
Online professional development is offered but due to pricing structure an average price was not 
delivered as developers stated that access is often negotiated based on a number of factors.

Indirect Training Costs
• Indirect training costs assumes that for the VPK and School Readiness programs that both the cost 

of the child care instructor to be paid for training as well as the cost of a substitute was calculated 
using the average salary rate from the Bureau of Labor Market Statistics for child care instructors 
and Florida’s minimum wage for substitutes.

• For observation based assessment training delivered by an early learning coalition or a school 
district only 6 hours of paid training was assumed as the other 6 hours could be eligible as part of 
the 10 hours of required in service training that are required annually for child care instructors in 
accordance with rule 65c-22.001, F.A.C.

• The full cost of direct student assessment training for teachers and child care instructors was 
calculated in the model.

Infrastructure Costs
• The model assumes that every VPK and School Readiness classroom would need new technology. 

Regional Level Fidelity Costs
• The model does account for the cost of a school district or an early learning coalition to monitor 

for fidelity checks as part of job duties included in staff responsibilities. However this model 
assumes that early learning coalitions and school districts already have staff on hand to complete 
this work as part of program support. If this assumption is false than the administrative costs 
associated with the VPK and School Readiness program may need to be adjusted to account for 
any new training and fidelity requirements.

State Level Infrastructure Costs 
• The model does not account for the cost of an interface with statewide data sources. Developers 

have data repositories that capture and store data for reporting that often comes with access 
as part of the per student/ child assessment cost. However developers did not feel comfortable 
providing an interface price without knowing the complexities of Florida’s technology platforms.



31

APPENDIX E

Kindergarten $13,598,768
VPK $18,501,977
School Readiness $26,791,582
All Programs $58,892,327

COST MODELING FINAL TOTALS

LOCAL TRAINING MODELING
Committee for Early Grade Success

Cost Modeling

Kindergarten Observation Based
Direct Student 

Assessment
Number of Students 201,061 $1,809,549
Number of Classrooms 12,569

Total $1,809,549

VPK

Number of Students 169,081 $2,367,134 $1,521,729.00
Number of Classrooms 12,691
Number of Coalition/ 
School District  Staff 890 Total $3,888,863.00

School Readiness
Number of Students 99,699 $1,395,786.00 29,368                          
Number of Classrooms 28,591 $264,312
Number of Coalition Staff 525 Total $1,660,098.00

Infant 6,695               5,021             $93,730
Toddler 16,612            8,306             $232,568
2 YO 22,421            6,115             $313,894
3 YO 24,603            4,921             $344,442
4 YO* 23,462            3,519             $328,468
5 YO 5,906               709                $82,684
Total 99,699            28,591          $1,395,786

Total All Programs $7,358,510.00

Demographics Assessment Costs



32

Committee for Early Grade Success
Cost Modeling

Kindergarten Observation Based
Direct Student 
Assessment

Initial Training $0 $0 $2,900 $1,822,505
Online Training $0 $0
Fidelity Training $0 $0
On-Going Training $0 $0

One Day $3300
Total $1,822,505

VPK Observation Based
Direct Student 
Assessment

Initial Training $5,000 $222,500 $2,900 $1,840,195

Online Training $150 $267,000
Fidelity Training $5,000 $222,500
On-Going Training $5,000 $222,500

One Day $3300
Total $2,774,695

School Readiness Observation Based
Direct Student 
Assessment

Initial Training $5,000 $131,250 $2,900 4,228                
Online Training $150 $157,500 $613,062.90
Fidelity Training $5,000 $131,250
On-Going Training $5,000 $131,250

One Day $3300
Total $1,164,312.90

Total All Programs $5,761,512.90

Direct Training Costs



33

Co
m

m
itt

ee
 fo

r E
ar

ly
 G

ra
de

 S
uc

ce
ss

Co
st

 M
od

el
in

g

Ki
nd

er
ga

rt
en

O
BA

 H
ou

rs
 T

o 
Co

m
pl

et
e

Te
ac

he
r H

ou
rly

 
Ra

te
DS

A 
Ho

ur
s T

o 
Co

m
pl

et
e

In
iti

al
 T

ra
in

in
g

0
$3

2.
16

$0
6

$2
,4

25
,3

14
O

nl
in

e 
Tr

ai
ni

ng
 

0
$3

2.
16

$0
Fi

de
lit

y 
Tr

ai
ni

ng
0

$3
2.

16
$0

O
n-

Go
in

g 
Tr

ai
ni

ng
0

$3
2.

16
$0

To
ta

l
$0

To
ta

l
$2

,4
25

,3
14

VP
K

Ch
ild

 C
ar

e 
In

st
ru

ct
or

 H
ou

rly
 

Ra
te

Su
bs

tit
ut

e 
Te

ac
he

r H
ou

rly
 

Ra
te

DS
A 

Ho
ur

s T
o 

Co
m

pl
et

e
In

iti
al

 T
ra

in
in

g
6

10
.3

9
$7

91
,1

57
8.

10
$6

16
,7

82
.6

0
6

$7
91

,1
56

.9
4

O
nl

in
e 

Tr
ai

ni
ng

 
0

10
.3

9
$0

8.
10

$0
.0

0
$6

16
,7

82
.6

0
Fi

de
lit

y 
Tr

ai
ni

ng
6

10
.3

9
$7

91
,1

57
8.

10
$6

16
,7

82
.6

0
To

ta
l

$1
,4

07
,9

39
.5

4
O

n-
Go

in
g 

Tr
ai

ni
ng

0
10

.3
9

$0
8.

10
$0

.0
0

To
ta

l
$1

,5
82

,3
14

To
ta

l
$1

,2
33

,5
65

.2
0

Sc
ho

ol
 R

ea
di

ne
ss

Ch
ild

 C
ar

e 
In

st
ru

ct
or

 H
ou

rly
 

Ra
te

Su
bs

tit
ut

e 
Te

ac
he

r H
ou

rly
 

Ra
te

DS
A 

Ho
ur

s T
o 

Co
m

pl
et

e
In

iti
al

 T
ra

in
in

g
6

10
.3

9
$1

,7
82

,3
44

8.
10

$1
,3

89
,5

07
6

$2
63

,5
75

O
nl

in
e 

Tr
ai

ni
ng

 
0

10
.3

9
$0

8.
10

$0
$2

05
,4

82
Fi

de
lit

y 
Tr

ai
ni

ng
6

10
.3

9
$1

,7
82

,3
44

8.
10

$1
,3

89
,5

07
To

ta
l

$4
69

,0
57

O
n-

Go
in

g 
Tr

ai
ni

ng
0

10
.3

9
$0

8.
10

$0
To

ta
l

$3
,5

64
,6

87
To

ta
l

$2
,7

79
,0

15

To
ta

l A
ll 

Pr
og

ra
m

s
$1

3,
46

1,
89

1.
29

In
di

re
ct

 T
ra

in
in

g 
Co

st
s

Co
m

m
itt

ee
 fo

r E
ar

ly
 G

ra
de

 S
uc

ce
ss

Co
st

 M
od

el
in

g

Ki
nd

er
ga

rt
en

Te
ch

no
lo

gy
 C

os
t b

y 
Cl

as
sr

oo
m

To
ta

l
$7

,5
41

,4
00

VP
K

Te
ch

no
lo

gy
 C

os
t b

y 
Cl

as
sr

oo
m

To
ta

l
$7

,6
14

,6
00

Sc
ho

ol
 R

ea
di

ne
ss

Te
ch

no
lo

gy
 C

os
t b

y 
Cl

as
sr

oo
m

To
ta

l
$1

7,
15

4,
41

3

To
ta

l A
ll 

Pr
og

ra
m

s
$3

2,
31

0,
41

3

In
fr

as
tr

uc
tu

re
 C

os
ts


	10.23.18 Provider Meeting
	ELCB Fall Provider Meeting
	Home instruction for parents of preschool youngsters (HIPPY)
	Legislative update
	Committee on early grade success report recommendations
	recommendations
	recommendations
	recommendations
	HB 1091 Implementation
	School readiness program assessment (SRPA)
	School readiness program assessment
	School readiness program assessment
	School readiness program assessment
	School readiness program assessment
	Class observation tool
	Which classrooms will be observed?
	Which classrooms will be observed?
	Implications based on class composite scores
	exemptions
	exemptions
	Exemption – Opt in 
	Exemption – opt in
	School readiness program assessment resources
	Incident reporting
	What is unusual
	What is unusual?
	What is not unusual
	Incident reporting timeline
	How we know
	VPk standards
	Vpk monitoring reminders
	The portal���
	School Readiness �eligibility and enrollments
	What is different?
	Helpful hints
	Helpful hints
	Attendance in the portal
	Attendance in the portal
	Attendance in the portal
	Inclusion reminders

	Committee-For-Early-Grade-Success-Recommendations

